

"A Bandage on a Large Wound": Analyzing the Role and Strategies of Transnational Multi-Stakeholder Partnerships (MSPs) in Advancing SDG 4.

Sunday Jerome Salami

Thesis submitted for assessment with a view to obtaining the degree of Master of Arts in Transnational Governance of the European University Institute

Florence, 15 May, 2023.

European University Institute
School of Transnational Governance

"A Bandage on a Large Wound": Analyzing the Role and Strategies of Transnational Multi-Stakeholder Partnerships (MSPs) in Advancing SDG 4.

Sunday Jerome Salami

Thesis submitted for assessment with a view to obtaining the degree of Master of Arts in Transnational Governance of the European University Institute

Supervisor

Professor Diane Stone, European University Institute

© Sunday Jerome Salami, 2023. This work is licensed under a <u>Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 (CC-BY4.0) International license</u>

If cited or quoted, reference should be made to the full name of the author, the title, the series, the year, and the publisher.

Student declaration to accompany the submission of written work School of Transnational Governance

I <Sunday Jerome Salami> certify that I am the author of the work <A Bandage on a Large Wound": Analyzing the Role and Strategies of Transnational Multi-Stakeholder Partnerships (MSPs) in Advancing SDG 4> I have presented for examination for the Master of Arts in Transnational Governance at the European University Institute. I also certify that this is solely my own original work, other than where I have clearly indicated, in this declaration and in the thesis, that it is the work of others.

I warrant that I have obtained all the permissions required for using any material from other copyrighted publications.

I certify that this work complies with the Code of Ethics in Academic Researchissued by the European University Institute (IUE 332/2/10 (CA 297).

The copyright of this work rests with its author. Quotation from this thesis is permitted, provided that full acknowledgement is made. This work may not be reproduced without my prior written consent. This authorisation does not, to the best of my knowledge, infringe the rights of any third party.

I declare that this work consists of <10,812> words.

Signature and date:

Florence, 15 May, 2023

ABSTRACT

The failure of several international development and transnational governance mechanisms in achieving the sustainable development goals (SDGs) since the turn of the century has called for the need to re-invent global governance architecture. Multi-Stakeholder Partnerships (MSPs) have been touted as a panacea in this regard and as a result, multiple MSPs have been forged over the last three decades within the purview of several global issues such as the health crisis, food insecurity, and education. Multi-Stakeholder partnerships (MSPs) bring together different stakeholders to dialogue and pool resources together to achieve a common goal. But MSPs also face several criticisms such as rigid topdown approaches, insufficient domestic representation, and sustainable funding issues (Hazlewoord 2015: 4). As the world strives to accelerate the achievement of the SDGs, especially SDG 4, MSPs within global education have also become more prominent. However, research specifically on global education MSPs is limited, hence this research aims to fill this gap. Utilizing qualitative research in the form of document analysis and semistructured interviews, this research analyzes the role that global education MSPs play in achieving the SDGs. Findings show that global education MSPs are responsible for providing vital resources, particularly global education financing which strongly help to advance SDG 4. However, their impact is limited due to how intersectional and complex the problem of global education is, hence, "a bandage on a large wound" as pointed out by a respondent. It further highlights that while country ownership is strongly promoted, discussions and activities are still very much "north led" (especially at the board level) despite attempts at increasing the inclusion of beneficiary countries.

Keywords: Multi-Stakeholder partnerships, global education, stakeholder management, sustainable development, inclusion.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

List of Figures	3
List of Abbreviations	4
Chapter 1: Introduction	5
1.1. Research Question(s)	6
1.2. Research Methodology	7
Chapter 2: Dissecting the Rise, Role, and Responsibilities of MSPs in Contemporary Times	9
2.1. Defining Multi-Stakeholder Partnerships (MSPs), and their Roles and	10
2.2. Effectiveness and Legitimacy of Multi-Stakeholder Partnerships	11
2.3. Criticisms of Multi-Stakeholder Partnerships	13
2.4. MSPs within Global Education and the road to 2030 - Presentation of Cases	15
2.4.1. Global Partnership for Education (GPE)	15
2.4.2. Education Cannot Wait (ECW)	16
Chapter 3: Theoretical and Analytical Underpinnings of the Strategies of Effective MSPs for	or the
SDGs	17
Chapter 4: Analysis of Case Studies	20
4.1. Goals and Objectives	20
4.2. Stakeholder Management	22
4.3. Sustainable Funding and Resource Allocation	27
4.4. Monitoring and Evaluation Strategies	30
Chapter 5: Discussion and Synthesis of Research Findings	33
Chapter 6: Conclusion, Limitations and Suggestions for Further Research	35
References	38

LIST OF FIGURES

1. Four Criteria for analyzing how MSPs advance SDG 4	. 18
2. Goals and Objectives	. 20
3. Stakeholder Management	. . 2 3
4. Sustainable Funding and Resource Allocation	. 27
5. Monitoring and Evaluation Strategies	30

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

AWS Alliance for Water Stewardship

CARE Cooperative for Assistance and Relief Everywhere

CSO Civil Society Organization

ECW Education Cannot Wait

EiEPC Education in Emergencies and Protracted Crises

EFA Education for All – Fast Track Initiative

ESP Education Sector Plan

FER First Emergency Response

GPE Global Partnership for Education

GAVI Global Alliance for Vaccines and Immunization

GWP Global Water partnership

HLFC High Level Financing Conference

HLSG High Level Steering Group

IMF International Monetary Fund

LEG Local Education Group

MDGs Millennium Development Goals

MSP Multi-Stakeholder Partnership

MYRP Multi-Year Resilience Programme

NGO Non-Governmental Organization

OECD Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development

SCA Standard Contribution Agreement

SDGs Sustainable Development Goals

UN United Nations

UNICEF United Nations International Children's Emergency Fund

WEF World Economic Forum

1. Introduction

"No single country or organization can tackle the challenges of demographics, conflict, unequal access to education, radicalization or climate change. Partnership is the only way." - Audrey Azoulay, Director-General, UNESCO, 2018.

The road to achieving the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) has refocused attention on finding long-term remedies to the "global issues" (George et al., 2016) that the world is currently confronting. Increasingly, there have been expert suggestions that multistakeholder partnerships (MSPs) involving governmental, corporate, civil society organizations, financial institutions, donors, and academic institutions are essential to achieve the SDGs (Clarke and MacDonald, 2019; MacDonald et al., 2019; Pattberg and Widerberg, 2016). As a result, the United Nations Agenda 2030 has pledged to "Goal 17 - Global Partnership for Development" to support the effective execution of the Sustainable Development Goals and "reinvigorate the global partnership for sustainable development" (UNGA, 2016).

With a focus on a broad spectrum of international objectives and goals, the SDGs "possibly offers a novel way ahead for development policy and practice." (Scheyvens et al., 2016). However, despite increasing expectations for the SDGs, realizing this possibility through improved partnerships is debated. "Partnerships are new types of governance that can bring together varied knowledge and resources from civil society, government, and private sector" Backstrand (2006: 303). They entail exchanging information, pooling resources, and harmonizing the skills of many sectors, which is expected to lead to efficiencies that produce favorable sustainable outcomes (Bendell et al., 2010; Weitz et al., 2019; Selsky and Parker, 2005). In brief, partnerships are essential structures that bring different actors' objectives into line with a single goal and act as an indispensable organizer and facilitator for advancing sustainable development.

In line with this ideal, several transnational MSPs have been designed to tackle global

education challenges. Against this backdrop, and considering that in recent times, different transnational governance models (of which global education MSPs fall under) are criticized and scrutinized for their structural inadequacies such as lack of representation of all 'stakeholders' (Hall, 2014), it is important to analyze to what extent are MSPs shaped to positively impact development outcomes and the SDG goals based on the field or sector they are operating.

1.1. Research Question(s)

The main research question is thus presented: What role do global education MSPs fulfill, and how are they designed to effectively support SDG 4?

The question is further broken down into the following sub questions:

- i. Why are global education MSPs formed and what role do they fulfill?
- ii. How are they set up to effectively advance the SDGs?

The literature on MSPs and how they operate is thoroughly examined to answer a portion of the questions above. Thereafter, two case studies of MSPs in global education are analyzed by using four criteria developed from the literature. To achieve this, this research is conducted through semi-structured interviews and a thorough examination of documents and reports on the activities of the partnerships.

This paper argues that global education MSPs are crucial for the advancement of the SDGs as they play a role of providing (mostly financial) resources to alleviate global education problems. This is different from some MSPs in other sectors responsible for program implementation, setting norms or sharing information. It further contends that global education MSPs are formed in a way that recognizes problems of inclusion, country representation and sustainable funding and they actively try to deal with these issues in their quest to achieve the SDGs. However, several problems persist. For instance, discourses at the top level of global education MSPs are still very much "north led," hence, the problem of agenda setting and exclusion. Other issues are also observed: i.e., there are constraints on what global education MSPs can achieve since the problem of education is intersectional and

cuts across other problems such as political instability and a pandemic situation.

1.2. Research Methodology

Using two cases of MSPs within global education, a qualitative method in the form of document analysis and semi-structured interviews is used for this research. Qualitative research, according to Denzin (2001), explains participants' ideas, perceptions, and reactions and clarifies the implications of their actions. Inductive reasoning, or simply developing a theory from observed evidence, is the foundation of the qualitative method (Mohajan, 2018: 1).

GPE (Global Partnerships for Education) and ECW (Education Cannot Wait) are the two cases selected for this research. These two were selected because they are some of the foremost MSPs within global education and their work has been pivotal in recent years within the field. GPE is the largest global partnership for education and ECW, created 7 years ago, is the only partnership that solely exists to fund education in emergency situations. With these cases, a document analysis of their charters, other documents from their websites (e.g., their organizational structure documents, monitoring and evaluation processes and their strategic plans for the next few years), peer-reviewed journals, and reports produced by the organizations and external organizations are analyzed. The documents used were carefully chosen to answer the question on why they exist, what functions they perform and how they deal with internal issues of inclusion, country ownership and sustainable funding. Thereafter, semi-structured "elite" interviews are conducted with a total of 5 employees within these organizations (3 from ECW and 2 from GPE) to understand their perspectives on the research questions. Elite interviews are interviews conducted with experts or with those close to power in the context of qualitative research (Lilleker, 2003: 207). They are typically helpful when expert opinions are needed as in the case of this study. Most of those interviewed have been working with their organizations since their founding. For those with less than a decade experience with the partnerships, they have been active in the international development field in other organizations including UNICEF and the World Bank.

Semi-structured interviews are particularly chosen because of their flexibility and possibility of having a two-way interaction which allows for follow-up questions. According to Bryman (2008) this method is more adaptable than any other qualitative method. LinkedIn and email invitations were used to seek potential participants who could contribute to the research topic. However, it was difficult to schedule a time that worked best for potential participants as is common when dealing with elites as they are "unlikely to accommodate the researcher's schedule, and in some cases no amount of effort will result in an interview" (Conti & O'Neil, 2007). Emails were sent to 25 people from both organizations which resulted in 5 interviews. Since it was difficult to get the attention of some people, snowball sampling mechanism was used to find more people willing to participate in the research. Snowball sampling is a non-probabilistic method that involves selecting a small number of participants who fit the requirements for the study, and then asking the participants to nominate other people they know who fulfill the researcher's selection criteria (Bhattacherjee, 2017: 70). This was helpful in getting more participants.

2. Dissecting the Rise, Role, and Responsibilities of MSPs in Contemporary Times

The prevalence of several global issues plaguing the world today constantly calls for better institutional models of transnational governance to attempt at solving these issues. However, problems that go beyond national borders are not easy to solve. Some scholars such as Stone (2019: 1) have termed these problems "wicked" due to their complexity. The problems are often challenging to solve due to several factors, such as conflicting understanding that causes ambiguity, and the interconnectedness of several global issues (Head and Alford, 2013). Over the years, different transnational governance models involving several intergovernmental organizations such as the United Nations have been created to address some of these wicked problems. While the United Nations has made several strides in achieving its aim of "peace, dignity and equality on a healthy planet," several scholars (Medhat, 2020, Bertrand, 2005, Taylor & Curtis, 2008) have criticized its functionality and argued that it has failed in delivering its objectives. Frustrating bureaucratic processes, western-oriented ideals, hypocrisy in enforcing international human rights principles, and a lack of inclusion of global south countries in salient decision-making processes are some criticisms that have been highlighted against the United Nations (Medhat, 2020; Nile, 2007).

As the efficiency of global governance and international development mechanisms such as the United Nations are questioned, this leaves room for the re-imagining of the development architecture. Over time, traditional development organizations have been viewed as ineffective and incapable, which has resulted in a lack of trust. They also have extreme bureaucratic needs, global unanimity needs, and an inability to achieve outcomes (Berman, 2017). Secondly, there is a growing understanding that working with private organizations was essential to addressing global issues (ibid). They give resources, frequently in the form of money, information, and skills that governments lack but rely on. Thirdly, MSPs are also seen as strengthening democratic legitimacy because they involve parties that are impacted by development policy (Lie, 2021). Thus, this is where the potency of analyzing the role of MSPs in addressing global problems becomes relevant.

2.1. Defining Multi-Stakeholder Partnerships (MSPs), Roles and Structure

Momen (2019) defines MSPs as a "new type of partnership governance system that brings together various actors, including civil society, governments, international organizations, media, and academic or research establishments for the purpose of exchanging knowledge, information, technologies, and financial resources while working toward solving a common issue." This definition extrapolates the idea of MSPs into three: the actors involved, what they do, and what goal they seek to achieve. Actors within MSPs are people, parties, or institutions that can significantly impact the primary concern at hand through their activities or those that are directly impacted by the actions of those trying to address the problem. Five main stakeholders (the government, businesses, international organizations, NGOs and Civic Society Organizations) participate in MSPs. Furthermore, scholars like Pauwelyn (in Berman, 2017) have referred to the rise of MSPs as a transition from formal to informal institutional frameworks and legislature. In the era of global governance, states collaborate with non-governmental actors through unofficial organizations like trans-governmental regulatory networks and multi-stakeholder partnerships, rather than just with other governments or intergovernmental organizations. So, it is appropriate to view the rise of partnerships in this perspective as a trend that is a component of a larger transformation in how the world system operates.

The activities of MSPs are varied based on their different goals. However, according to Beisheim and Simon (2016: 3) MSPs within the purview of the sustainable development goals achieve three functions based on their activities: for sharing knowledge, for providing services, and for setting standards. Knowledge sharing hovers on sharing best practices, technical information, and expertise within the partnership on how to achieve an aim. An example of this is Global Water partnership (GWP), a coalition of over 3000 water organizations to promote efficient, sustainable water resource management. MSPs that provide services are active in developing programs and implementing projects that address specific concerns, such as GAVI, the Vaccine Alliance which is a public-private global health

partnership that aims to increase access to immunization and vaccines in developing countries. Resources can also involve financial resources to stimulate development programs in various contexts. Setting standards deals more with enacting policies and norms that other initiatives can adopt to address global issues. An example is the Alliance for Water Stewardship (AWS), an association comprising corporations, non-profit organizations, and the government. By adopting the AWS Standard, AWS members help ensure the sustainability of local water resources. However, while MSPs can be differentiated through the above groupings, their activities can also overlap across these three areas depending on the goals and actions of individual MSPs.

The goals of MSPs within sustainable development usually take cognizance of development issues and align their visions and missions with those of the SDGs. The examples given above of GAVI, GWP and AWS can be said to be in line with goals 3 and 6 of the SDGs, respectively. MSPs serve as interactive venues where help can be consolidated and organized into a single combined fund, as opposed to conventional aid, which was dominated by bilateral financing to a single recipient country. The Paris Declaration principles, which emphasize the concept of country ownership, and views recipient nations as partners with equal participation into the organization's operations and strategies, serve as the foundation for MSP objectives and practices (Buse and Tanaka 2011). It is also important to highlight that MSPs are usually non-binding, hence, different from international treaties in which countries are usually a signatory (UN, 2016). MSPs depend on the commitment and willingness of stakeholders to actively engage, especially when the partnership can agree on a comprehensive goal and when individual institutional goals are aligned with each other.

2.2. Effectiveness and Legitimacy of MSPs

According to Backstrand (2006), legitimacy stems both from two logics: firstly, "a procedural logic (that rules are predictable and determined by legitimate actors)" and secondly, "a consequential logic (that rules and institutions lead to collective problem solving)." She termed this input and output legitimacy. Input legitimacy refers to the nature of the decision-making process (transparency, representation, and accountability) while output legitimacy

is the ability of the institution to solve problems (Scharpf, 2001).

Input legitimacy pertains to formal requirements like fair representation of different stakeholders, a forum for debate and interaction between those in the public sector, the private sector and civil society, as well as transparency, access to data, information exchange, and processes for oversight and tracking. To address the "participation gap" and disenfranchisement in global governance, MSPs have been promoted since the 1992 Rio summit. It aims to increase multilateralism's inclusivity and responsiveness to marginalized groups (such as women and indigenous people) (Elliot, 2004; Fisher and Green, 2004). Multilateral financial institutions have established consultative mechanisms with civil society in response to accusations that they lack a democratic framework (Mason, 2004). This presupposes that the inclusion of marginalized groups and affected communities will create better collaborative problem solving.

Also, the issue of accountability is central to the discussion on the legitimacy of MSPs. For an MSP to be successful, all actors must be accountable with one another to promote mutual trust and genuine understanding. However, this is usually a challenge for transnational MSPs because of their weakly institutionalized cooperative platforms that do not clearly define a principal-agent relationship and are not solely responsible to an electoral base (Benner et al., 2003: 3). In contrast to state-centered or International Organization structures of accountability, MSPs face difficulties with accountability because there are numerous sites of governance and authority that is spread among various actors (Keohane and Nye, 2003: 401). In addition, since MSPs are usually decentralized and adaptable, a top-down accountability framework is less appropriate for partnerships. According to studies on partnership accountability, horizontal accountability methods are more effective (Steets, 2004).

The efficacy of partnership agreements can be expressed as output legitimacy in the context of MSPs. The ability to solve problems is a key component of performance. Hence the question: does the partnership meet its own objectives? Backstrand (2006) further argues that within the purview of the SDGs, effectiveness has two aspects: first, how well the agreement

achieves the stated developmental objectives and secondly, the MSP's institutional architecture and foundation, which are necessary for achieving desired results. This "institutional effectiveness" includes leadership, clearly defined goals, and cogent policies. While implementation and compliance with norms within an MSP can be seen as a positive outcome in measuring the efficiency of an MSP, effectiveness refers to the outcome of the MSP in terms of whether aims and objectives are being met. However, due to the lengthy process involved in implementing the sustainable development goals, it is sometimes difficult to evaluate "outcome effectiveness" hence, why MSPs usually have target indicators and periodic goals within a specific period.

To conclude, legitimacy of MSPs within their structures (inward legitimacy determined by representation, transparency, and accountability) and in relation to their implementing capacities (outward legitimacy) can help us understand their effectiveness.

2.3. Criticisms of Multi-Stakeholder Partnerships

Although the governance of MSPs has only been the subject of a few studies, several significant criticisms have been made. MSPs have struggled with uncertain funding, a lack of voices from the so-called "global south", accountability, and worries about the expanding private sector's domination. A lot of criticism (Menashy, 2017) has also been directed against the characteristics of constituency-based governance, such as board member conflicts and a corresponding failure to pay close attention to significant policy-related issues. A common argument within the literature on MSPs is based on a "functionalist" explanation which states that MSPs are "created by rational actors who are interested in solving complex transboundary problems" (Reinicke and Deng, 2000) that governments and international organizations are not able to efficiently solve. Thus, the need for MSPs to help fill governance gaps in those places. However, this theory has been debated by scholars like Andonova and Levy (2003: 23) who posit that partnerships are supply-driven rather than demand-driven because they are not found in places where governance gaps are rampant such as in the developing world or so-called global south, but rather in places where the goals of the partnerships align with the interests of northern donors. A different study by the German

Development Corporation shows that partnerships are in global south countries that are friendly for investments instead of the countries that are most in need of better governance infrastructure (Hoering cited in Utting and Zammit, 2009: 45).

These findings cast a dim light on the goals and functionalities of MSPs in that while they have been centered as a crucial need for providing public goods and thus advancing the SDGs, their existence is sometimes at odds with the noble cause of advancing the SDGs. This points to the need to critically analyze how they are constructed and what their attempts are in addressing concerns such as the prevalence of "northern interests." If MSPs are meant to be a panacea for global governance (Gray and Purdy, 2018), a repetition of traditional models of global governance and development approaches would render it ineffective, hence a proliferation of the conventional order. But solving the problems of "northern-led interests" becomes even more complicated with MSPs curated to address financial gaps within international development. This is because funding for development MSPs is still very much provided by the global north (OECD, 2019) due to the differences in economic standing in contrast to the global south, hence, they are a big stakeholder in the functioning of MSPs. Thus, their voices can sometimes be the loudest in key decision-making processes.

Another school of thought in the creation of MSPs is the "rational choice perspective" which argues that MSPs are formed when the interests and goals of actors intersect and thus, they can get one benefit or the other from the partnership (Witte and Reinicke, 2005: 46). Hence, the common argument of a win-win situation for every actor in an MSP. While this is tenable as all stakeholders share risks and benefits, it is problematic in that the locus of the formation of partnerships hinges on what actors can get out of it and not necessarily what goal (in terms of filling governance gaps) is being achieved. Different actors have different expectations or incentives for participating in an MSP: Governments hope to gain greater control of policy design and implementation; NGOs want to influence policies of government and private actors to increase their public profile, the private sector wants to access public tenders and subsidies and boost their goodwill; and international organizations want to have access to skills and technical expertise of the private sector (Andonova and Levy, 2003). Hence it is important to question to what extent the SDGs can be achieved through MSPs when their

formation is based on what stakeholders expect to get out of it. This concern is further buttressed by anti-capitalist proponents who oppose the involvement of the private sector in development activities citing that their involvement may seek to take advantage of the partnership to advance their own interests and goodwill (Parvu and Voicu-Olteanu, 2009: 197). Whilst sharing risks and benefits is part of being in an MSP, it is important for MSPs to take cognizance of the kinds of partners that they bring on board. Having a specific goal, requirements for joining and documents that outline ways of engagement helps to filter the kinds of partners MSPs utilize to avoid future problems or scandals.

2.4. MSPs within Global Education and the road to 2030 - Presentation of Cases

As MSPs have become a crucial pathway for the advancement of the SDGs in various fields, several global education MSPs have also been created overtime to address challenges within the global education system. Several challenges in the last few years such as the climate crisis, COVID-19 pandemic and the War in Ukraine which has disrupted education systems and thus, hampered the progress towards the achievement of the SDGs. Key resources such as funding are needed to tackle these issues but despite this, not all governments, especially in the so-called global south, have the resources to address them (Georgieva et al., 2022). Thus, the involvement of international organizations like Save the Children, UNICEF and CARE in solving these issues through curated program implementation. Other organizations such as the World Bank, WEF and the IMF provide the much-needed financial resources to address challenges. It is within this discourse that analyzing two global education MSPs responsible for global education financing is plausible. The two cases are thus presented below:

2.4.1 Global Partnership for Education (GPE)

Formerly known as Education for All – Fast Track Initiative, GPE was founded in 2002 by the World Bank and other partners with the main goal of helping developing nations meet the EFA's and the MDG's for education, which state that by 2015, all children of primary school age must be registered in school and capable of completing the primary school lifecycle. GPE was established to ensure that nations with excellent educational policies and

approved educational objectives could rely on sufficient and consistent donor financing. Their strategy involves working with governments to develop credible education plans to hasten the realization of these goals and to assist nation-states in financing and implementing those strategies. With an initial membership of 30 countries, the GPE's membership has expanded to over 90 countries and has disbursed over 100 billion USD in the last 2 decades in the bid to achieve SDG 4 (GPE Annual Report, 2021). It is the largest global fund that addresses education problems in developing countries (ibid).

2.4.2. Education Cannot Wait (ECW)

Education Cannot Wait (ECW) is popularly known as the UN's global fund for education in emergencies and protracted crises (EiEPC). Founded in 2016, ECW uses a multilateral framework to both quicken crisis response times and link short-term aid with longer-term solutions through a multiyear programming system. ECW comes at a time when global crises such as the war in Ukraine and the COVID-19 pandemic are threatening education systems which are vital to the growth and wellbeing of future generations. To improve efficiency and eliminate compartmentalized solutions, ECW collaborates closely with governments, public and corporate donors, UN agencies, grassroots organizations, and other stakeholders in the humanitarian and development aid sectors. ECW is hosted by UNICEF and regulated by the Standard Contribution Agreement (SCA) operationalized in ECW's operating manual. A 2022 report by ECW states that they have impacted about 7 million children in emergency situations globally (ECW, 2022) but despite this achievement, over 222 million children are still impacted by crisis situations and the activities of ECW hope to reduce this number during the implementation of their periodic strategic plans.

3. Theoretical and Analytical Underpinnings of the Structure of Effective MSPs for the SDGs

Eweje et al (2021) proposes a conceptual framework for understanding the dynamics of MSPs that contribute to advancing the SDGs. This conceptual framework is hinged on two perspectives, namely stakeholder engagement and institutional theory. Stakeholder management emphasizes that stakeholder management processes must be "efficient" for an MSP to contribute to the SDGs. Efficient stakeholder management processes require transparency, ongoing communication, information exchange, inclusion, and cooperation in addition to the capacity to think systemically to manage challenging sustainability concerns (Rhodes et al., 2014). The institutional theory model is based on increasing shared institutional pressures via normative and coercive governance structures to advance the achievement of the SDGs (DiMaggio and Powell, 1983). In its most basic forms, institutional theory shows how actors within the MSPs platform enhance their "legitimacy" by adopting similar formalized SDGs implementation practices in response to three types of corresponding tendencies: seeking credibility through compliance with clearly written laws (coercive); alignment with best practices (mimetic); and alignment with elaborate standards upheld by professional and academic authorities (normative) (DiMaggio and Powell, 1983). Since MSPs are non-binding, it is impossible for MSPs to be coercive as this would contravene the basis on which partnerships are formed. However, alignment with best practices or standards is ideal since these enhance the efficiency of MSPs. Most development MSPs align their goals with the SDGs which forms a basis for their existence. Concisely, Eweje et al. (2021) are saying that while it is impossible to force a partnership through coercive means, stakeholder management practices must be collaborative, transparent, and inclusive for an MSP to be effective.

The literature also points to some analytical frameworks. Jansen and Kalas (2020) employ inductive reasoning in assessing the effectiveness of an MSP by proposing that successful MSPs can be evaluated by considering their enabling internal and external conditions. They grouped internal conditions into the following: Cost, building trust and

representation/power imbalances. External conditions are grouped as follows: transparency and accountability, the knowledge transfer of learnings, system-wide capability building, policy consensus, and reliable institutions. According to this qualitative framework, an MSP without critically considering the above external environment and internal conditions will prevent the achievement of the shared goal and vice versa.

A more popular analytical framework is proposed by Pattberg and Wilderberg (2014) that lists 9 conditions for success for MSPs. It is a meta-governance framework that is broadly grouped into three: actors, process, and context. They highlight nine indicators that are commonly mentioned in the MSP literature. The significance of the stakeholders and their unique assets, affiliations, and experiences comes first; the importance of process management comes second; and the usefulness of the problem-structure and wider "contextual environment" comes third (Visseren-Hamakers et al. 2007). Based on the literature observed, this framework is widely cited by several scholars as an effective means of evaluating the impact of MSPs.

This research utilizes a synthesis of the above literature (Eweje, 2021; Jansen and Kalas, 2020, Young, 2002; Pattberg and Wilderberg, 2014) to develop 4 criteria that are used to answer the research questions and analyze the cases in terms of their contribution towards the achievement of SDG 4: 1) Goals and Objectives; 2) Stakeholder Management 3) Sustainable Funding and Resource Allocation 4) Monitoring and Evaluation.

Criteria	Guiding Question
	Are the MSP goals aligned with the SDGs? What role does the MSP play in global governance (norm setter, providing resources or program implementation)?
	What is the leadership structure like, and how does the MSP ensure the inclusion of global south voices at the top level of the decision-making process?

	How does the MSP promote local or country ownership?
Sustainable Funding and Resource Allocation	How does the MSP ensure a sustainable
	funding mechanism? Is there a diverse range of
	funding options?
	How does the MSP allocate funds? What
	determines their funding priority?
Monitoring and Evaluation	How does the MSP evaluate the impact of their
	work? How do they ensure transparency in
	their evaluation processes?
	1

Figure 1: Four Criteria for analyzing how MSPs advance the SDGs

The frameworks observed in the literature are not directly used for this research because whilst the frameworks provide a means to directly "measure" how effective an MSP, this research is more about critically analyzing how global education MSPs are designed to address the SDGs by considering their stakeholder management practices and how they mitigate common partnership challenges. Although, the popular framework proposed by Pattberg and Wilderberg, (2014) could be ideal to answer this question. However, with its nine conditions for success, it would be impossible to conduct a robust and thorough analysis based on the time and word limit for this research. Thus, a synthesis of the frameworks, teasing out aspects that come out strongly (such as stakeholder management and sustainable funding) is made to answer the proposed question and sub-questions.

4. Analysis of Case Studies

This section utilizes data gathered from the interviews and available documents, together with the four criteria above to answer the research questions while comparing both MSPs simultaneously. A simultaneous analysis is done because both MSPs are similar in nature but with slight differences. Future research could utilize two different MSPs to conduct a comparative analysis. Against this backdrop, the following paragraphs present an analysis of the research data gathered.

4.1. Goals and Objectives

	GPE	ECW
with the SDGs?	organizational goals and	Yes, through broader organizational goals and periodic strategic objectives
in global governance (norm	l	Solely providing financial resources

Figure 2: Goals and Objectives

The goals and objectives of MSPs have been highlighted in the literature as an important aspect in understanding how MSPs contribute to the SDGs. Patterberg and Wilderberg (2014) posit that precise and ambitious targets are imperative for a successful outcome for MSPs. Jansen and Kalas (2020) also contend that for an MSP to be effective, it must have "an inclusive goal-setting process with clear roles and responsibilities of the stakeholders, and transparent communication." Thus, the process used to reach this point of having a shared or mutual goal should give voice to vulnerable and marginalized groups, which are typically left out of decision-making processes.

ECW's vision states that they envision "a world where all children and youth affected by crises can learn free of cost – in safety and without fear – to grow and reach their full potential (ECW Strategic Plan, 2022). For GPE, it follows a similar line: "to accelerate access, outcomes

and gender equality through equitable, inclusive and resilient education systems fit for the 21st century" (GPE Annual Report, 2021). In addition, the two MSPs have periodic strategic objectives for 3-5 years which help to align and refocus their activities on contemporary global education issues, ensure relevance and renew their credibility for donors. ECW's recent strategic plan from 2023 – 2026 stresses their commitment to meeting the needs of learners with disabilities affected by crises, inclusion of forcibly displaced refugees into the national curriculum of their host countries and prioritizing support for teachers (ECW Strategic Plan, 2023). For GPE, their latest plan from 2021 – 2025 highlights their priority areas which are on gender equality, quality teaching, strong organizational capacity and inclusion of refugees, people with disabilities and internally displaced persons in national education systems (GPE Strategic Plan, 2022).

From the research data gathered through interviews and review of documents of both MSP cases, it can be determined that the goals of the cases for this research are in line with SDG 4: "ensuring an inclusive and equitable quality education and promote lifelong learning opportunities for all." In addition, the strategic plan goals of the two organizations highlighted above are connected to specific SDG target indicators of the SDGs such as 4.1-universal primary and secondary education, 4.5- gender equality and inclusion and 4.6-universal youth literacy. While the MSPs identified for this research are solely focused on filling funding gaps in education financing and not necessarily exclusively implementing projects, their existence makes financial resources available to fund some of these projects which advance the goal of achieving SDG 4.

Regarding the role that global education MSPs fulfil, they provide resources (mostly financial) rather than sharing information or setting standards. Thus, it is not coincidental that the two MSPs analyzed in this research mostly fill global education financing gaps and there are two reasons for this. Firstly, it was difficult to find global education MSPs that solely focus on project implementation as NGOs, governments, and local CSOs are usually utilized to fulfill that role. Therefore, MSPs do not need to proliferate these activities but rather fill a different gap such as education financing. Secondly, on financing, research shows that it is a recurring issue within global education further heightened by the COVID crisis and the war

in Ukraine (Patrinos, et al., 2021). This makes a case for the existence of global education MSPs like GPE and ECW. In addition to providing resources, GPE fulfils a knowledge exchange and information sharing goal through its KIX (Knowledge Information Exchange) platform. This is an innovation exchange hub created in collaboration with the International Development Research Center (IDRC) to encourage knowledge exchange among education stakeholders to improve education systems utilizing pertinent data and useful research (GPE Annual Report, 2022).

In terms of goal setting, the involvement and representation of all stakeholders in this process is also important for the cases studied for this research. Participants point to the involvement of all stakeholders in the goal setting phase.

"We have a board structure that decides on the strategy of GPE... And in the goal setting, the countries that benefit from GPE support have a very active voice and participate in this. By signing up to the Charter as a GPE member, you commit to all these principles which includes broad participation by all the partners." - Participant D, GPE.

Literature on MSPs point to the fact that for a partnership to thrive, there must be mutual collaboration and trust between all stakeholders (Jansen and Kalas, 2020) and for this mutual trust to be achieved, thus, it is important that all stakeholders are in alignment and that they understand what the goal of the partnership seeks to achieve. This is evident in the two cases considered for this research in that they both have a charter in which all stakeholders must comply by to be involved in the partnership. The charter explains the key requirements for being a part of the partnership. For instance, the GPE charter speaks to country ownership, mutual accountability, and inclusiveness (GPE Charter, 2023). It also describes what the responsibility of each stakeholder is in the process. This means that for any partner involved with GPE, they must have agreed to abide by the charter's rules and regulations. This is buttressed by a participant from ECW (who does not want to be quoted) who stressed that there is a good feeling of mutual trust and accountability amongst partners.

4.2. Stakeholder Management

	GPE	ECW
What is the leadership	Constituency-based model	Constituency-based model
structure like, and how does	(equal number of	(Unequal number of
the MSP ensure the inclusion	representations between	representations between
of global south voices at the	partner and donor countries)	partner and donor countries)
top level of the decision-	,	,
making process?	Problems of overburdening of	
	stakeholders	
■	Utilization of Local Education	Utilization of (mostly)
		international NGOs at the local
	the government- specific	level – specific country
	country priorities are set by	priorities depend on the type of
	this group.	crisis

Figure 3: Stakeholder Management

ECW has a three-level governance structure: The High-Level Steering Group (HLSG), the Executive Committee and the Director. The HLSG provides strategic guidance to ECW's activities. Held at the ministerial level, it is made up of representatives of leaders from partner countries, donor countries, civil society groups, UN agencies and the private sector. The Executive Committee is comprised of representatives of all stakeholders listed above. The Executive Director is the third arm of ECW's governance structure that oversees the ECW Secretariat housed at UNICEF's HQ in New York.

Data from governance documents depicts that out of 31 members involved in the HLSG, only 2 are representatives of beneficiary countries. Constituency representatives serve for a term of two years, renewed once, and are chosen by the members of the relevant constituency through a method designed by that constituency. ECW's terms of reference state that representatives are chosen in an honest, open, and participatory manner and the secretariat receives submissions of the internal procedures for review and oversight (ECW Terms of Reference, 2020). Thus, while there is some form of representation, there is not a balanced representation of key stakeholders at the board level. Although a respondent noted that this area requires more work, there is an active understanding of this issue, and they are working closely to involve more voices.

"One of the things that we're doing this year is we're looking at how we can and better coordinate, and better represent organizations from the global South in that executive committee structure... Whilst we've made some efforts, there's more to do on including those voices in those meetings and making sure they're properly represented." - Participant A, ECW.

While this may be seen as a criticism of ECW, it is also critical to keep in mind that ECW is a global fund, and most of its funding comes from donor nations in the global north, who wants to know how their money was used and want a voice in crucial decisions being made at the top level. Hence the question: how can the HLSG be expanded to accommodate more beneficiary countries? Another counterargument to the issue of inclusion is on a point by another participant who stressed that a more comprehensive inclusion of beneficiary countries is challenging as countries they work with are either ravaged by conflict, political instability, and corruption. For these countries the education system is rendered almost impossible to coordinate, hence, it is difficult to find a representative at ECW's board level from there. However, how they curb this is by utilizing representatives from other similar but more "stable" countries to represent the partnering countries' constituency.

"The whole development paradigm is very much north led, and this is because the region is economically more stable, able to be a donor and thus has the upper hand in providing resources. Then you have a South that is troubled with economic problems, crisis, political issues, and corruption. So how do you establish real and open partnerships? The reality is you have financial processes from donor down to beneficiary that call for accountability because they are afraid money will go to corruption. At the end of the day, those who pay tend to have the upper hand. What we try to do at ECW though is giving equal value to those providing services, for instance, the generosity of host countries (like Lebanon, Uganda, etc.) in opening their borders. We treat them as being equally valuable as those who are paying for it." - Participant C, ECW.

GPE has two levels of operation: the global and the country level. At the country or national level, on-the-ground actors coordinate activities through their respective local education groups (LEGs). GPE's country-level processes are supported by global-level processes, which are overseen by a Board of Directors with a constituency-based structure with 20 voting

members, 6 of which are representatives of developing countries, 6 for donor countries, 3 for CSOs/NGOs, 3 for multilateral organizations and 2 for the private sector (GPE Charter, 2019). The board helps set policies, approve annual goals, make decisions for the trust fund, and provide direction to the secretariat. Decisions are made through a vote based on a majority consensus of the full members on the board.

As stated on their website and strategic documents, the main principle of GPE is based on mutual accountability (GPE Strategic Plan, 2022). The core membership of GPE consists of partners who represent various education actors on a national and international level. It brings together national and international partners in education and encourages inclusive policy dialogue through local education groups (LEGs). Thus, it is logical to argue that GPE's board is inclusive of all stakeholders with a balanced representation. However, the question of how much board members from partner countries can influence decisions came up in one of the interviews which highlights the complexities on representation of voices in an MSP.

"So there are representatives of partner countries that are recipients of GPE funding in the Global South on the board. The question is, how much are they able to make their case and how much are their voices heard?" - Participant E, GPE.

The reason for this is further buttressed by the participant in that sometimes, representatives (who are usually government officials form the ministry of education) of partner countries are overburdened by the partnership commitment and other governmental duties. This is different for donor representatives whose main work is usually liaising between GPE and the said donor country or organization. As a result, stakeholders from recipient countries are sometimes not able to articulate their voices as much as donor stakeholders due to an overload of work.

"Those on the board are people like ministers of education and so on, for whom being on the GPE board is like 100th or 1000th of their job description. If you look at the donor representatives, they're usually a person who's a focal point for GPE within their agency and engaging with GPE is like 1/4 of their job. So, there's a huge imbalance in how much the donors are able to engage and how much donors

understand GPE versus developing country representatives based on that." - Participant E, GPE.

This ties to Thindwa's (2015) argument that one of the risks facing MSPs is the "overburdening of work" by stakeholders. This research has particularly found out that partner countries are the most affected in this regard. Also, when observing organizations such as CSOs and NGOs that engage with GPE, there is a huge imbalance in how much voice that the northern civil society constituencies have compared to the southern ones as indicated by a participant. This is also similar to ECW's mode of operation as they primarily engage international NGOs due to their credibility instead of local NGOs.

"Primarily, we are only a funder. So, we fund organizations like UNICEF, Save the Children and local organizations to do the work on the ground." - Participant B, ECW.

"There's a civil society [sic] which consists of both northern civil societies or organizations like Oxfam and Plan, and so on. And then there is southern civil society as well. There's a huge imbalance in how much voice that the northern civil society constituencies have compared to the southern ones. And you know, so like I said, GPE does some stuff to address that, but that imbalance remains." - Participant E, GPE

However, a point that was noted is that GPE has made a lot of effort to amplify the voices of the global south both at the board level and the country level.

"GPE tries to address this by trying to get them [the representatives] on board with the issues being discussed whilst helping them identify and agree to positions around what they're going to do,... so the board is disproportionately balanced in favor of the donors." - Participant E, GPE.

MacDonald et al (2018) argue that a decentralized, collaborative decision-making process is the most effective for MSPs. This is because it allows for the engagement of all stakeholders, thereby considering their opinions, which gives a form of ownership to all stakeholders. It also allows for stakeholder capacity to be well utilized in achieving the goals of the MSP. In contrast, a centralized decision-making process would be more rigid and inflexible and

would not consider the views of all parties, thus creating a disconnect between stakeholders thereby threatening the sustainability of such a partnership. Thus, it can be inferred that in the two cases studied, their governance structure is decentralized in that they try to include and engage all stakeholders involved. A participant further alluded to this:

"All of our programs are decentralized and are developed by our local partners, especially CSOs. The CSOs are also represented on our Executive Committee, and they are particularly important for us." - Participant A, ECW.

However, there is still room for improvement. For instance, allocating more membership to partner countries in terms of ECW's structure, and for GPE, having a representative that has other external commitments which affect their work productivity and involvement as a representative at the GPE board may not be the best indicator of an effective MSP for the SDGs. Thus, paying more attention to their board membership requirements can be helpful in deciding who should represent partner countries to mitigate the problem of overburdening.

4.3. Sustainable Funding and Resource Allocation

	GPE	ECW
How does the MSP ensure a	Diverse range of funding	Diverse range of funding
sustainable funding mechanism? Is there a	options	options
	Pooled funding mechanism	Pooled funding mechanism
	Periodic fundraising conferences	Periodic fundraising conferences
How does the MSP allocate	Governments apply for	Funding is disbursed to
funds? What determines	funding after meeting key	NGOs and organizations
their funding priority?	GPE requirements	working in the field

Figure 4: Sustainable Funding and Resource Allocation

Several literatures on achieving the SDGs point to the need for a sustainable mode of financing to implement development projects across the globe to address pressing global problems (OECD, 2020 Luksic et al., 2022, Ziolo et al., 2020). To achieve the SDGs by 2030, the UN estimates that humanity will need to spend between \$3 trillion and \$5 trillion yearly (UN Global Compact, 2019). It is for this reason that MSPs such as GPE and ECW exist to bridge the gap in education financing and ensure that there is a constant flow of financial resources to meet education needs, especially in developing countries. Hazlewood (2015) posits that pooled funding arrangements have been crucial to global MSPs and have proven to be effective at attracting private industry and utilizing private capital for development purposes.

Data gathered shows that both MSPs' funding mechanisms are similar in that they both have a pooled funding mechanism and depend on donors, especially country donors to commit some funds but they also amplify this by organizing specific conferences periodically to make a case for their initiatives. ECW has a series of donors from countries with Germany being the largest donor of the initiative. Periodically, they organize a High-Level Financing Conference (HLFC) to raise funds to support their activities. The HLFC is a conference that invites political and business leaders to commit funds to deliver on its strategic plan (Mwanza, 2023). The last conference held in February 2023 generated 826 million USD which is about 50% of its goal. These funds are allocated based on two financing windows: Multi-Year Resilience Programme (MYRP) to "facilitate joint humanitarian and development multiyear programming and financing"; and First Emergency Response (FER) to promote an immediate and quick response to educational demands in crises that develop suddenly and quickly (ECW, 2020). Over the last 7 years, the partnership has committed over 1.5 billion in investments across countries. What is also important to note is that donors cannot dictate how money collected is spent. This is an important insight because conventional development institutions sometimes have stringent requirements when delivering aid packages. The concept of tied aid (Miquel-Florensa, 2007) for instance alludes to this. This refers to government grants or loans that restrict the purchasing power of recipient countries to firms in the donor nation or a select few other nations (OECD, 2018). Therefore, tied aid frequently prohibits recipient nations from getting a decent return for their money when it comes to their products and services (ibid.). For MSPs within global education, this is different as noted by a participant:

"I think the thing we've been very clear about is that it's a pooled fund mechanism. So you first of all, you can't take attribution from that mechanism. So you can't say, as government X, we have contributed a certain amount to ECW. And so you know this is this is what you've done with our funds in this country." - Participant A, ECW.

For GPE, every year, they release a financial report that publicly displays the donations from contributors in the year before. GPE has obtained several billion dollars since its founding from a total of 29 contributors, the bulk of which have been donors from Western nations. Every few years, funders renew their commitments; therefore, a new fundraising campaign is started to fund new strategic goals. This is necessary for accountability because new donations are, in theory, conditioned on the successful outcomes of the previous strategy. It is important to state however that while ECW allocates funding based on need in relation to crisis response/humanitarian aid, countries must apply for grants from GPE to get access to their funds after meeting certain criteria outlined in their charter. "Grant agent is the term used to refer to any GPE partner assigned to receive GPE grant funds, either on behalf of a partner country or for specific programs" (GPE Charter, 2023). They collaborate directly with the government and other stakeholders to guarantee that grant-funded initiatives are carefully planned, successfully carried out, and in line with the education sector's broad objectives, procedures, and methods. They are appointed by the government through a transparent process in accordance with GPE's selection guidelines and also endorsed by the Local Education Groups (LEGs).

Based on the above, it can be inferred that both MSPs work intensely to ensure that they continue to make a case for donors to continue to fund their initiatives. Having periodic funding conferences inspired by periodic 3–5-year strategies help to ensure their continuous relevance in the global education space. This makes their case convincing for donors to recognize their importance in alleviating global education concerns, thus achieving the SDGs. ECW's name "Education Cannot Wait" itself portrays an urgency in addressing education issues in crisis contexts which makes donors to be more cognizant of not just the need to donate but also the gravity, thus accelerating impact. Also, for GPE, participants

alluded to the governments being encouraged to increase budgetary allocations to education, which helps increase its impact on SDG 4. Raising funds in this manner depicts an efficient way of generating funding which eventually influences the achievement of SDG 4.

4.4. Monitoring and Evaluation Strategies

	GPE	ECW
How does the MSP evaluate	Country led and secretariat	Global and local level
the impact of their work?	led evaluations	evaluations
How do they ensure		
transparency in their	Utilization of external	Utilization of external
evaluation processes?	parties in conducting	parties in conducting
	-	evaluations

Figure 5: Monitoring and Evaluation Strategies

Effective monitoring and evaluation methods constitute an important aspect of a functioning MSPs that contributes to the SDGs. Partnerships must be able to assess how resources obtained are being used to be able to make a case for more funds for the future. Also, they must ensure a high level of transparency and in reporting and documenting progress made no matter how big or small. Kusters et al (2018) argue that an effective monitoring and evaluation framework must be inward looking, reflective and forward thinking. The three elements may be used jointly or separately and can be used to show effectiveness, assist the development of subsequent initiatives, and influence system planning and organizational management.

GPE's evaluation serves three purposes: accountability, decision making and evidence-based learning (GPE, 2021). They carry out both country and secretariat-led evaluations which are in line with their evaluation criteria which advocates independence and impartiality, credibility, transparency and participation of beneficiaries (ibid). These evaluations are designed to assess how funds are spent, especially at the country level where project implementation is taking place. In addition, GPE also outsources its evaluation to external parties as it was observed in one of the interviews that there is a tendency for GPE's secretariat's evaluation to be influenced internally.

"In my experience in GPE, I have not seen the secretariat try to interfere with evaluation findings. But it isn't a fully independent function. I do think there might be room for more independence... you know the way the evaluations are conceived, what questions are asked, how the theory of change for a particular evaluation looks. It's not a major problem, but I think there can be a tendency to... you know... for the programmatic teams and the secretariat to sort of influence those things, which I think would be better if there was a little bit of greater independence. This is why when we do evaluations... these days, we contract them out with third parties who are functionally independent from us." - Participant E, GPE

ECW has two different levels of evaluations: globally and locally.

"We've got global level evaluations of our windows and they're done by external companies... and are publicly available. You know, we have a management response which basically says this is the recommendations and this is our response and we systematically track those responses to make sure that we're closing off those recommendations and taking action. In terms of country level evaluations, the organizations that receive our funding once a year, need to submit a very comprehensive report which shows us what they've done with the financing. So it's both a financial report as well as a narrative report." - Participant A, ECW.

It is also important to note that the two cases above have elaborate websites where different documents such as board meeting minutes, strategic plans, monitoring and evaluation strategies, and so on can be viewed by the public. Therefore, it can be inferred that both organizations understand the role of transparency and making resources available to the public and especially donors who continue to donate and commit to their strategies in solving global education issues.

What is apparent from the cases is that they both contract their evaluation to third parties who conduct evaluations independent from the secretariats. This ties with the argument by (MacDonald and Ferguson, 2016) that allowing third party evaluations allows for the best means of objectivity and transparency when conducting and M&E. Also, since respondents

point to the fact that evaluation of previous strategies influences future strategies and hence, the amount of funding generated, it is logical to conclude that GPE and ECW have strong monitoring and evaluation strategies that are inward looking, reflective and forward looking (Kusters et al. 2018). Data gathered from respondents shows that their evaluation strategies allow them to critically assess their current activities globally and locally which informs how they plan out their next strategic plans for the next years to maintain relevance and boost funding.

5. Discussion and Synthesis of Findings

The research conducted has shed some light into how MSPs within global education function and how their structure and activities pay close attention to the SDGs. It has also highlighted how they deal with specific partnership problems. Whilst global education issues are intersectional, the problem of financing has been identified as a major issue (GEM Report, 2023) thus, the need for actors like GPE and ECW to step in and coordinate financing mechanisms in the bid to alleviate some of the other obstacles which helps advance SDG 4.

In terms of goals and objectives, both organization's goals are similar. They both have periodic strategic plans, and they mirror their priorities to the SDGs and contemporary education issues to maintain their relevance and importance in the global education space. This builds credibility in the eyes of donors and other stakeholders willing to commit to their goals.

Both organizations' governance structure and stakeholder management processes pay close attention to the issue of inclusion at the board level. Inclusion for this research is described as the representation of voices of partner (developing/beneficiary) countries at the top level of the organizational structure. ECW's board structure only allows for two representatives for partner countries at the board level, signaling the need for potential expansion. For GPE, there is an equal number of representations between partner countries and donor countries of 6 each. However, partner country representatives are usually swarmed with other governmental duties which makes them not as efficient as they can be. A reassessment of the selection process of representatives at the top level by GPE could help mitigate this issue. However, the question that remains to be answered is if representatives fully understand the needs of countries represented and articulate these concerns effectively. In addition, on the issue of inclusion, it is worth mentioning that the current board chair of GPE is an African and the vice chair is a woman. Also, the executive director overseeing the affairs of the ECW secretariat is a woman. This points to a shift in narrative when it comes to the leadership of international institutions which have historically sidelined people of color and women in

top-level positions (Shalal, 2023).

In addition, both MSPs have similar ways of engaging all stakeholders. Mutual trust and accountability came out strongly in data collected through interviews and charters of the organizations. ECW engages local and international NGOs working in contexts where their funding goes to while the GPE utilizes LEGs and grant agents curated by the governments of beneficiary countries according to GPE's criteria. This solidifies the argument that both MSPs prioritize country ownership in their involvements, thus, eliminating a problematic top-down approach in their approach. However, the prevalence of global north NGOs in this approach further calls for a reform in the development space to include more local NGOs.

On sustainable funding and resource allocation, both initiatives utilize a pooled funding mechanism and depend on key donors whilst also organizing periodic conferences to attract donor funding and stimulate their interests in education financing through their partnerships. However, allocation of funds is different as ECW utilizes its yearly funding windows to allocate funding according to a country's needs. This is tenable because since ECW focuses on education in crisis situations, they are mandated to commit some of their funds to an emergency response plan for the said country. While GPE also has a channel in which it prioritizes funding for crises situations, GPE funds broader education issues. Thus, its funding allocation strategy requires governments, after following certain conditions highlighted in the charter, to apply for funding to receive grants. However, it has been found that this process takes more than 40 months on average which is slow considering the time limitations in achieving agenda 2030 (Zuijderduijn et al., 2020).

To ensure transparency, both organizations utilize external, independent actors in monitoring and evaluating their activities even though GPE also has secretariat led evaluations. However, a participant mentioned that since there is a tendency towards influencing evaluation methods, they utilize external actors in mitigating that. Furthermore, the two organizations recognize the importance of having a thorough M&E process because without this, their credibility would be tarnished, which would have a negative impact on the amount of funding they receive.

6. Conclusion, Limitations and Suggestions for Further Research

This research has contributed to the scholarship on MSPs by conducting a critical analysis of two global education MSPs to understand what role they fulfill, how they are structured for impact and how they mitigate challenges of exclusion, country ownership and sustainable funding. By observing the conceptual and analytical frameworks in the literature, four criteria (goals, stakeholder management, sustainable funding, and monitoring and evaluation strategies) were developed to answer the research question, whilst using the two cases. The use of four criteria was deemed to be more efficient than relying solely on the frameworks found in the literature, as doing so would have made it practically impossible to conduct a thorough analysis given the constrained time and word count for this study. Thus, a synthesis of the 4 criteria was made to present an approach that is more incisive for gathering findings.

The findings point to the fact that global education MSPs play a crucial role in advancing SDG 4 especially through global education financing. These MSPs have an efficient funding model which is sustainable and country priorities are led by country experts, governments, and NGOs. However, the inclusion of local NGOs at this level is still lacking as large international NGOs (mostly from the global north) are usually utilized for country-level implementation due to their relevance and credibility. Also, the goals and strategic priorities of the MSPs considered for this research are strongly in line with the SDGs and they have a constituency-based model that allows for the representation of all stakeholders at the board level. But an "equal inclusion" of partner countries at the board level and dealing with "overburdening of stakeholders" would help mitigate the problem of persistent "north led" voices highlighted in the research. However, this is a challenge for MSPs solely focused on education financing considering that a lot of this finance comes from the global north who would *justifiably* want to have a say on how their donations are used.

In terms of limitations, the number of respondents was small. However, documents from the

MSP cases' websites were used to further make the research more robust, as suggested by participants who pinpointed relevant documents. Future research could expand the number of participants to get more qualitative data from respondents. At the beginning of this research, the plan was to compare different MSPs with distinct roles but similar pedigree and reputation. It was difficult to strike a balance between MSPs that fund global education and those that carry out program implementation at the local level. This is because NGOs instead of MSPs are usually used at the implementation level, hence program implementing MSPs within global education are difficult to find. This is why an analysis of two similar and popular education financing MSPs was made instead. Future research could compare different MSPs within global education that fulfil divergent functions. Thirdly, employees of the secretariats of both organizations were the primary respondents of this research. Future research could speak to other stakeholders such as NGOs, the private sector, LEGs, and grant agents within the same MSP to get diverse views on the topic.

As global education MSPs try to solve global educational challenges, their work is sometimes set backward due to the complex global problems faced in the world today such as the COVID crisis, political instability, and the refugee crisis (Popov et al., 2021). For instance, a respondent stressed that at the time of ECW's founding, there were 75M people in crisis situations that needed access to education. However, after the COVID pandemic and Russia's war on Ukraine, this number skyrocketed to 222M (Sherif, 2022; May 2022).

In summary, global education MSPs are a reliable way to raise funds to alleviate the concerns within global education, thus advancing SDG 4. Despite challenges of beneficiary countries' inclusion at the board level, their strategies strive to promote country ownership, and mutual accountability among partners. However, they are just a tiny piece of the entire puzzle since global education issues are intersectional in nature and sometimes raising money is important but not enough as a respondent rightly puts:

"We are like a bandage on a very large wound that needs an entire surgery." - Participant C, ECW.

Thus, despite the importance of global education MSPs in advancing SDG 4, their impacts are still limited considering how the plethora of global issues that we face affect the education sector. Their existence, however, serves a pivotal purpose that continues to alleviate problems within the global education space, albeit slowly.

REFERENCES

Andonova, L. and Levy, M. (2003) 'Franchising Global Governance: Making Sense of the Johannesburg Type II Partnerships', *Yearbook of International Cooperation on Environment and Development*, 4, pp. 19–31.

Backstrand, K. (2006) 'Multi-Stakeholder partnerships for sustainable development: rethinking legitimacy, accountability and effectiveness', *European Environment*, 16(5), pp. 290–306. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1002/eet.425

Banerjee, A., Murphy, E. and Walsh, P.P. (2020) 'Perceptions of Multistakeholder Partnerships for the Sustainable Development Goals: A Case Study of Irish Non-State Actors', *Sustainability*, 12(21), p. 8872. Available at: https://doi.org/10.3390/su12218872

Beisheim, M. and Simon, N. (2018) 'Multistakeholder Partnerships for the SDGs: Actors' Views on UN Metagovernance', *Global Governance*, 24(4), pp. 497–515.

Beisheim, M. and Simon, N. F. (2016). Multi-stakeholder partnerships for implementing the 2030 Agenda: Improving accountability and transparency. *OSOC Partnership Forum* Available at:

https://www.un.org/ecosoc/sites/www.un.org.ecosoc/files/files/en/2016doc/partnership-forum-beisheim-simon.pdf (Accessed: 12 May 2023).

Benedict, K. (2001) 'Global Governance', in N.J. Smelser and P.B. Baltes (eds) *International Encyclopedia of the Social & Behavioral Sciences*. Oxford: Pergamon, pp. 6232–6237. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/B0-08-043076-7/04499-5.

Bendell, J., Collins, E. and Roper, J. (2010), Beyond partnerism: toward a more expansive research agenda on multi-stakeholder collaboration for responsible business. *Business Strategy and the Environment*, 19(6). pp. 351-355.

Benner T., Reinicke W., and Witte J. M. (2004). Multisectoral networks in global governance: towards a pluralistic system of accountability. *Government and Opposition* **29**(2): 191–208.

Berman, A. (2017) 'The Rise of Multistakeholder Partnerships', *Proceedings of the ASIL Annual Meeting*, 111, pp. 205–208. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1017/amp.2017.19.

Bertrand, D. (2005) Some Measures to Improve Overall Performance of the United Nations System at the Country Level. *Joint Inspection Unit of the United Nations*. Pp. 1-19. DOI:

https://www.unjiu.org/sites/www.unjiu.org/files/jiu_document_files/products/en/rep orts-notes/JIU%20Products/JIU_REP_2005_2_Part_1_English.pdf

Bertrand, M. (1995) 'The UN as an Organization. A Critique of its Functioning'. European *Journal of International Law.* Pp. 1-11.

Bhattacherjee, A. (2012). Social Science Research: Principles, Methods, and Practices. *Proceedings of the 12th Annual International Digital Government Research Conference on Digital Government Innovation in Challenging Times*.

Bissio, R. (2013) *The Paris Declaration on Aid Effectiveness*. UN Library. pp 233-247 Available at:

https://www.ohchr.org/sites/default/files/Documents/Issues/Development/RTDBook/PartIIIChapter17.pdf (Accessed: 12 May 2023).

Bryman, A. (2016). Social Research Methods. 5th Edition. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Buse K, and Tanaka S. (2011) Global public-private health partnerships: Lessons learned from ten years of experience and evaluation. *International Dental Journal*. 61(2). Pp. 2–10.

Caplan, K., Gomme, J., Mugabi, J., and Stott, L. (2007) Assessing Partnership Performance. Understanding the Drivers for Success. *Building Partnerships for Development in Water and Sanitation*. Available at: https://www.ircwash.org/sites/default/files/Caplan-2007-Assessing.pdf (Accessed: 12 May 2023).

Clarke, A., & MacDonald, A. (2019). Outcomes to Partners in Multi-Stakeholder Cross-Sector Partnerships: A Resource-Based View. *Business & Society*, 58(2), 298–332. https://doi.org/10.1177/0007650316660534

Conti, J. A., & O'Neil, M. (2007). Studying power: qualitative methods and the global elite. *Qualitative Research*, 7(1), 63–82. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794107071421

Denzin, N. K. (2001). The reflexive interview and a performative social science. *Qualitative research*, 1(1), pp. 23-46.

DiMaggio, P. J., & Powell, W. W. (1983). The Iron Cage Revisited: Institutional Isomorphism and Collective Rationality in Organizational Fields. *American Sociological Review*, 48(2), 147–160. https://doi.org/10.2307/2095101.

Dulay, R. J. (2021) Multistakeholder partnerships and legitimacy. *International Institute of*

Social Studies. Available at https://tinyurl.com/trkcrtnk.

ECDPM, (2019) Seven principles for effective and healthy multi-stakeholder partnerships. ECDPM. Available at: https://ecdpm.org/work/civil-society-business-pulling-in-the-same-direction-volume-8-issue-1-winter-2018-2019/seven-principles-for-effective-and-healthy-multi-stakeholder-partnerships (Accessed: 12 May 2023).

ECW (2023) ECW's High-Level Financing Conference. Education Cannot Wait. Available at: https://www.educationcannotwait.org/news-stories/featured-content/ecws-high-level-financing-conference (Accessed: 12 May 2023).

ECW (2022). *Education Cannot Wait – High Level Steering Group Terms of Reference*. Education Cannot Wait. Available at:

https://www.educationcannotwait.org/sites/default/files/2022-05/High-Level-Steering-Group-Terms-of-Reference.pdf (Accessed: 12 May 2023).

ECW (2022) We have promises to keep and miles to go before we sleep. ECW Annual Report 2021. Pp. 1-164.

Elliot L. (2004). The Global Politics of the Environment. Palgrave: London.

Evans, B., McMahon, J. and Caplan, K. (2005) *The Partnership Paperchase: Structuring Partnership Agreements in Water and Sanitation in Low-income Communities*.

Eweje, G., Sajjad, A., Nath, S. & Kobayashi, K. (2020). Multi-stakeholder partnerships: a catalyst to achieve sustainable development goals. *Marketing Intelligence & Planning*. DOI: 10.1108/MIP-04-2020-0135.

Fisher D, and Green J. (2004). Understanding disenfranchisement: civil society and developing countries' influence and participation in global governance for sustainable development. *Global Environmental Politics* 4(3). Pp. 65–84.

GEM Report (2023) 'The main issues in global education finance', World Education Blog. Available at: https://world-education-blog.org/2023/01/25/scope-the-main-issues-in-global-education-finance/ (Accessed: 15 May 2023).

George, G. Howard-Grenville, J., Joshi, A. and Tihanyi, L. (2016) 'Understanding and Tackling Societal Grand Challenges through Management Research', *Academy of Management Journal*, 59(6), pp. 1880–1895. Available at: https://doi.org/10.5465/amj.2016.4007.

Georgieva, K., Gaspar, V., and Pazarbasioglu, C. (2022) *Poor and Vulnerable Countries Need Support to Adapt to Climate Change.* IMF. Available at:

https://www.imf.org/en/Blogs/Articles/2022/03/23/blog032322-poor-and-vulnerable-countris-need-support-to-adapt-to-climate-change (Accessed: 15 May 2023).

GPE Annual Report (2021) *GPE Annual Report, 2021*. Global Partnership for Education. Available at: https://assets.globalpartnership.org/s3fs-public/document/file/2022-06-GPE-2021-annual-report-spreads-

v2.pdf?VersionId=unnDQLr71trHpOaieeaa58yRS1aSyYi7. (Accessed 14 May 2023).

GPE (2023). *Executive Committee Roster*. Global Partnership for Education. Available at: https://www.globalpartnership.org/node/document/download?file=document/file/202 3-01-gpe-exco-roster.pdf (Accessed: 12 May 2023).

GPE (2021). *GPE Fund Governance*. Global Partnership for Education. Available at: https://www.globalpartnership.org/node/document/download?file=document/file/202 1-9-GPE-Fund-Governance.pdf (Accessed: 12 May 2023).

GPE (2021). Grant Agents: Working together for effective partnership. Global Partnership for Education. Available at: https://assets.globalpartnership.org/s3fs-public/document/file/White%20Paper_Grant%20Agents%202021_1.pdf?VersionId=XU9IB V0wfdA9c4H_8Yu50UAYQrpq43.V (Accessed: 12 May 2023).

GPE Charter (2023). *Charter of the Global Partnership for Education*. Global Partnership for Education. Pp. 1-19. Available at:

https://www.globalpartnership.org/node/document/download?file=document/file/202 3-02-charter-global-partnership-education.pdf. (Accessed: 15 May 2023).

GPE Results Framework (2022) *GPE results framework* 2025. *Methodological technical guidelines*. Pp. 1-121. Available at:

https://www.globalpartnership.org/node/document/download?file=document/file/202 2-12-GPE-results-framework-technical-guidelines.pdf. (Accessed: 15 May 2023).

GPE (2021). *GPE Evaluation Policy to Support Evidence Based Learning and Actions*. Global Partnership for Education. Pp. 1-15. Available at:

https://www.globalpartnership.org/node/document/download?file=document/file/202 1-05-evaluation-policy-support-evidence-based-learning-actions-v2.pdf. (Accessed: 15 May 2023).

Gray, B., and Purdy, J. (2018). *Collaborating for Our Future: Multistakeholder Partnerships for Solving Complex Problems*. Online edn, Oxford Academic. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1093/oso/9780198782841.001.0001.

Hall, D (2014) Why Public-Private partnerships do not work.- The many advantages of the public alternative. *PSIRU* (*Public Services International Research Unit*). Pp. 1-56. Available at: https://www.world-psi.org/sites/default/files/rapport_eng_56pages_a4_lr.pdf. (Accessed 13 May 2023)

Hazlewood, P. (2015) Global Multi-Stakeholder Partnerships. Scaling up public-private collective impact for the SDGs. *World Resources Institute*. Pp. 1-8. DOI: https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/content/documents/1738Global%20Multistakeholder.pdf

Head, B. & Alford, J. (2013). Wicked Problems: Implications for Public Policy and Management. *Administration & Society*. DOI: 10.1177/0095399713481601.

Hoering, U. (2003), 'Panacea PPP, Public Private Partnerships in German Development Cooperation. *Executive Summary'*, WEED Working Paper (World Economy, Ecology and Development Association (WEED), Berlin). Available at: www.weed-online.org/themen/uue/107297.html. (Accessed 13 May 2023).

Jansen, L., and Kalas, P. (2020). "Improving Governance of Tenure in Policy and Practice: A Conceptual Basis to Analyze Multi-Stakeholder Partnerships for Multi-Stakeholder Transformative Governance Illustrated with an Example from South Africa" *Sustainability* 12(1). DOI: https://doi.org/10.3390/su12239901

Keohane R, and Nye J. (2003). Redefining accountability for global governance. In *Governance in the Global Economy. Political Authority in Transition*, M Kahler, D Lake (eds). Princeton University Press: Princeton, NJ.

Kusters, K. et al. (2018) 'Participatory Planning, Monitoring and Evaluation of Multi-Stakeholder Platforms in Integrated Landscape Initiatives', *Environmental Management*, 62(1), pp. 170–181. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1007/s00267-017-0847-y.

Li, S. and Dennis, M. (2021) 'Unlocking SDG Private Financing Through Transformational Partnerships'. Available at: https://www.wri.org/insights/partnerships-private-financing-sdgs (Accessed: 12 May 2023).

Lie A. L., (2021) 'We are not a partnership' – constructing and contesting legitimacy of

global public-private partnerships: the Scaling Up Nutrition (SUN) Movement, *Globalizations*. 18(2,) Pp. 237-255, DOI: 10.1080/14747731.2020.1770038

Lilleker, D. G. (2003). Interviewing the Political Elite: Navigating a Potential Minefield. *Politics*, 23(3), 207–214. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-9256.00198.

Luksic, I. Bošković, B., Novikova, A. & Vrbensky, R. (2022) 'Innovative financing of the sustainable development goals in the countries of the Western Balkans', *Energy, Sustainability and Society*, 12(1), DOI: https://doi.org/10.1186/s13705-022-00340-w.

MacDonald, A., Clarke, A. and Huang, L. (2018) 'Multi-stakeholder Partnerships for Sustainability: Designing Decision-Making Processes for Partnership Capacity', *Journal of Business Ethics*, 160(2), pp. 409–426. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-018-3885-3.

MacDonald, S. and Ferguson, T. (2016) 'Seven Steps to Evaluating Third-Party Partnerships' The EvoLLLution. Available at: https://evolllution.com/managing-institution/internal_service_partnerships/seven-steps-to-evaluating-third-party-partnerships/ (Accessed: 15 May 2023).

Marriott, N. and Goyder, H. (2009) Manual for monitoring and evaluating education partnerships; Partnerships for education. *International Institute for Educational Planning*. Pp. 1-114. Available at: https://tinyurl.com/pfks26cc. (Accessed: 12 May 2023).

Mason, M. (2004). Representing transnational interests: new opportunities for non-governmental access to the World Trade Organization. *Environmental Politics*. 13(3). Pp. 566–589.

May, C. (2022) Meet the Education Leader Fighting to Make '222 Million Dreams' Come True for Children in Crises. Global Citizen. Available at: https://www.globalcitizen.org/en/content/education-cannot-wait-222-million-dreams/. (Accessed: 15 May 2023).

Medhat, A. (2020) A Critical Analysis to the United Nations' Performance in the light of Contemporary Global Challenges. Pp. 1-94 DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3564486.

Menashy, F., Zakharia, Z., and Shuayb, M. (2021) - *Promising Partnership Models for Education in Emergencies: A Global-Local Analysis*. EiE Partnerships. Pp. 1-191. Available at: https://eiepartnerships.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/02/PEIE_FinalReport_2021.pdf (Accessed: 12 May 2023).

Menashy, F. (2017) 'The Limits of Multi-Stakeholder Governance: The Case of the Global Partnership for Education and Private Schooling', *Comparative Education Review*, 61(2), pp. 240–268. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1086/690839.

Miquel-Florensa (2017) Aid Effectiveness A comparison of Tied and Untied. *York University*. Pp. 1-14. Available at: https://www.yorku.ca/wp-content/uploads/sites/205/2020/10/April2007_TiedUntied.pdf (Accessed: 12 May 2023).

Mohajan, H. (2018). Qualitative Research Methodology in Social Sciences and Related Subjects. *Journal of Economic Development, Environment and People*, 7(1).

Momen, M.N. (2020) 'Multi-stakeholder Partnerships in Public Policy', in W. Leal Filho et al. (eds) *Partnerships for the Goals*. Cham: Springer International Publishing (Encyclopedia of the UN Sustainable Development Goals), pp. 1–9. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-71067-9_50-1.

Mwanza, C. (2023) Education Cannot Wait High Level Financing Conference: An opportunity for world leaders to step up for crisis-affected children and youth. Bond, The international development network. Available at: https://www.bond.org.uk/news/2023/02/education-cannot-wait-high-level-financing-conference-an-opportunity-for-world-leaders-to-step-up-for-crisis-affected-children-and-youth/. (Accessed: 15 May 2023).

Nel, D. (2017) Multi-sector Stakeholder Partnerships as a Mechanism for Creating Public Value. *The University of Johannesburg Institutional Repository*. 9(9). Pp. 63-79. DOI: https://core.ac.uk/download/pdf/154746894.pdf.

Nile, G. (2007) The Decline and Fall of the United Nations: Why the U.N. has Failed and How it Needs to be Reformed. *Macalester International*. 19(9). Available at: http://digitalcommons.macalester.edu/macintl/vol19/iss1/9.

OECD (2001) *DAC Recommendation on Untying Official Development Assistance*. OECD Legal Instruments. Available at: https://legalinstruments.oecd.org/en/instruments/OECD-LEGAL-5015 (Accessed: 12 May 2023).

OECD (2020) Framework for SDG Aligned Finance. OECD. Available at: https://www.oecd.org/development/financing-sustainable-development/Framework-for-SDG-Aligned-Finance-OECD-UNDP.pdf (Accessed: 12 May 2023).

OECD (2019) Optimsing the role of development partners for social protection. OECD. Available

at: https://www.oecd.org/dev/inclusive-societies-development/Lessons_learned_social_development_partners_for_social_protection.pdf. (Accessed May 13 2023)

OECD (2020). Blended Finance Principles Guidance. OECD. Pp. 1-52 Available at: https://one.oecd.org/document/DCD/DAC(2020)42/FINAL/En/pdf (Accessed: 12 May 2023).

Parvu, D. and Voicu-Olteanu, C. (2009) 'Advantages and Limitations of the Public Private Partnerships and the Possibility of Using them in Romania.'. *Transylvanian Review of Administrative Sciences*. 5(27). Pp. 189-198.

Patrinos, H., Donnelly, R. and Gresham, J. (2021) *The impact of covid-19 on education – recommendations and opportunities for Ukraine*. World Bank Group. Available at: https://www.worldbank.org/en/news/opinion/2021/04/02/the-impact-of-covid-19-on-education-recommendations-and-opportunities-for-ukraine (Accessed: December 17, 2022).

Pattberg, P., Widerberg, O. (2016). Transnational multistakeholder partnerships for sustainable development: Conditions for success. *Ambio* 45, 42–51. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/s13280-015-0684-2.

Popov, N., Wolhuter, C., de Beer, L., Hilton, G., Ogunleye, J., Achinewhu-Nworgu, E., Niemczyk E., (2021) New Challenges to Education: Lessons from Around the World. *BCES Conference Books*. Available at: https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED613922.pdf. (Accessed: 15 May 2023).

Reinicke, W. & Deng, F. (2000). Critical Choices: The United Nations, networks, and the future of global governance. *UNESCO-IIEP*. Available at: http://lst-iiep.iiep-unesco.org/cgi-bin/wwwi32.exe/[in=epidoc1.in]/?t2000=011039/(100). (Accessed 13 May 2023).

Rhodes, J., Bergstrom, B., Lok, P., & Cheng, V.T. (2014). A framework for stakeholder engagement and sustainable development in MNCs. *Journal of Global Responsibility*, *5*, 82-103.

Roloff, J. (2008). Learning from Multi-Stakeholder Networks: Issue-Focused Stakeholder Management. *Journal of Business Ethics*. 82(1). Pp. 233–250. DOI 10.1007/s10551-007-9573-3.

Scharpf, F. (2001). European Governance. Jean Monnet Working Paper 07/71. European

University Institute: Florence.

Scheyvens, R., Banks, G., & Hughes, E. (2016). The Private Sector and the SDGs: The Need to Move Beyond 'Business as Usual'. *Sustainable Development*. 24. 371-382. DOI: 10.1002/sd.1623.

Selsky, J.W. and Parker, B. (2005), Cross-sector partnerships to address social issues: challenges to theory and practice. *Journal of Management*. 31 (6), pp. 849-873.

Shalal, A. (2023) *Women leaders sidelined at multilateral organizations, new study shows*. Reuters. Available at: https://www.reuters.com/business/women-leaders-sidelined-multilateral-organizations-new-study-shows-2023-03-06/ (Accessed 14 May 2023).

Sherif, Y. (2022) *We have promises to keep*. Education Cannot Wait. Available at: https://www.educationcannotwait.org/news-stories/directors-corner/222-million-dreams. (Accessed: 15 May 2023).

Steets, J. (2004). *Developing a Framework Concepts and Research Priorities for Partnership Accountability*, Global Public Policy Institute (GPPI) Research Paper Series 1. Available at: http://www.globalpublicpolicy.net. (Accessed 14 May 2023).

Stone, D. (2019) *Making Global Policy*. 1st edn. Cambridge University Press. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1017/9781108661690.

Thindwa, J. (2015) *Multi stakeholder initiatives: Platforms of collective governance for development.* World Bank. Available at: https://blogs.worldbank.org/governance/multi-stakeholder-initiatives-platforms-collective-governance-development. (Accessed 11 May 2023).

UN General Assembly, (2016), Towards Global Partnerships: A Principle-Based Approach to Enhanced Cooperation Between the United Nations and All Relevant Partners, A/RES/70/224. https://undocs.org/A/RES/70/224.

UN Global Compact (2019) *Scaling SDG Finance for the Sustainable Development Goals*. United Nations. Pp. 1-44. Available at: https://unglobalcompact.org/library/5721 (Accessed: 15 May 2023).

Utting, P., & Zammit, A. (2009). United Nations-Business Partnerships: Good Intentions and Contradictory Agendas. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 90. Pp. 39–56. http://www.jstor.org/stable/40295084

Venalainen, R., Anderson, A., and Elte, G. (2021) Evaluation of the ECW MYRP Modality. *Oxford Policy Management*. Available at: https://www.educationcannotwait.org/resource-library/evaluation-the-ecw-myrp-modality. (Accessed 14 May 2023).

Visseren-Hamakers, I.J., Arts, B. and Glasbergen., P. (2007). *Partnership as governance mechanism in development cooperation: Intersectoral north–south partnerships for marine biodiversity*. Cheltenham: Edward Elgar Publishing.

WEF (2012) Global Education Initiative Retrospective on Partnerships for Education Development 2003-2011. *Insight Report*. Available at: https://www3.weforum.org/docs/WEF_GEI_PartnershipsEducationDevelopment_Report _2012.pdf (Accessed: 12 May 2023).

Weitz, N., Carlsen, H. and Trimmer, C. (2019), SDG synergies: an approach for coherent 2030 agenda implementation. SEI Brief, Stockholm Environment Institute, available at: https://www.sei.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/04/sei-brief-2019-sdg-synergies-2.pdf (Accessed: 13 May 2023)

Wood, S. (2015) 'Transnational Governance Interactions: A Critical Review of the Legal Literature', *Allard Research Commons*. 11(7). Pp. 1-45. DOI: https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2644465.

Young, R. (2002) The Institutional Dimensions of Environmental Change. Fit, Interplay, and Scale. Cambridge, MA and London: MIT Press.

Ziolo, M., Bak, I. and Cheba, K. (2020) 'The role of sustainable finance in achieving sustainable development goals. Does it work?', *Technological and Economic Development of Economy*, 27, pp. 1–26. Available at: https://doi.org/10.3846/tede.2020.13863.

Zuijderduijn, M., Kooijmans, O., Alpenidze, I., Vermeulen, R., Ferrari, G., Bergmann, N., and Hill, R. C. (2020) *Independent Summative Evaluation of the Global Partnership for Education 2020 Final Report*. MDF Training and Consultancy. Available at: https://assets.globalpartnership.org/s3fs-public/document/file/2020-06-GPE-Independent-summative-evaluation.pdf (Accessed 13 May 2023).